I.

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Donald Herrick, through his attorney, Suzanne Lee 

Elliott, seeks review designated in Part II. 

II. 
COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued the unpublished decision in In Re 

Herrick, No. 69993-8-I, filed April 3, 2017. 

III. 
ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. If this Court accepts review in In Re Herrick, No. 69818-4-I, 

should it also grant review in this case. 

IV. 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The overarching facts of this case are set out in the Statement of 

the Case in the Petition for Review filed in In Re Herrick, No. 69818-4-I. 

After the trial court rejected Herrick's argument that RCW 

71.09.050(1) was unconstitutional, he refused to engage in the ordered 

plethysmograph (PPG) test. As a result, the trial court found him in 

contempt. Herrick sought review of the contempt order and the 

underlying order for PPG testing. 
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On April 3, 2017, the Court of Appeals affirmed both the order for 

PPG testing in In Re Herrick, No. 69818-4-I, and, in this cause number, 

the order of contempt. 

v. 
ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW IN THIS CASE IF 
IT ACCEPTS REVIEW IN IN RE HERRICK, NO. 69818-4-I 

In this case, the Court of Appeals held that because the order 

compelling PPG testing was constitutional, there was no basis to overturn 

the contempt order. Slip Opinion at 6. Herrick has asked this Court to 

review the constitutionality of the statute. If this Court accepts review of 

the constitutionality of that order, this Court should also grant review of 

this case. Should this Court find that the trial court's order for PPG testing 

is unconstitutional, it should also reverse the contempt citation. 

VI. 
CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant review of this case if it grants review in In 

Re Herrick, No. 69818-4-I. 
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DATED this 28th day of April, 2017. 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION ONE 

C, In re Detention of Donald Herrick ) No. 69993-8-1 
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I 

VERELLEN, C.J. - Donald Herrick appeals the trial court's order holding him In 

contempt of court for refusal to comply with an order compelling penile plethysmograph 

(PPG) and specific-issue polygraph testing as part ofa sexually violent predator (SVP) 

pre-civil commitment trial evaluation. He argues that 11[b]ecause the trial court order 

{oompel!ing PPG testing] is stayed pending review, the lawfulness of that order remains 

an open question."1 But Herrick did not obtain a stay of the order compelling PPG 

testing and did not challenge the procedure utilized in conducting the contempt hearing. 

Therefore, as acknowledged by Herrick's counsel at oral argument, because we 

1 Appellant's Br. at 26 (emphasis added). 
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conclude the statute2 granting the trial court discretion to compel PPG testing Is 

constitutlonal,3 there is no basis to overturn the contempt order. Accordingly, we affirm. 

FACTS 

The underlying facts are. not In dispute. In 1997, Herrick was convicted of rape In 

the first degree. He was released from incarceration for that offense In September 

2006. Three months after his release, Herrick stalked a 16·year-old. He pleaded guilty 

to voyeurism and was sentenced to 22 months. Following his release, Herrick entered 

outpatient sexual deviancy treatment with Northwest Treatment Associates. In March 

2009, as part of his treatment, he participated in PPG testing. 

In February and June 2010, Herrick violated his conditions of community 

placement by engaging In stalking. He was ordered to serve 120 days' confinement for 

the violations. 

In November 201 o, In anticipation of Herrick's release, the State petitioned to 

civilly commit him as an SVP under chapter 71.09 RCW. The petition Identified 

Herrick's prior sexually violent offenses and alleged that he suffers from a mental 

abnormality and/or personality disorder that makes him likely to engage In predatory 

acts of sexual violence if not confined In a secure facility. Prior to filing the petition, the 

State's expert, psychologist Dr. Brian Judd, completed a clinical evaluation record 

review. Dr. Judd opined that Herrick met the diagnostic criteria for paraphllla not 

otherwise specified (nonconsent), alcohol abuse, cannabis abuse, voyeurism 

(provisional), and antisocial personallty disorder. Of these disorders, Dr. Judd 

2 RCW 71.09,050(1). 
3 See In re Det. of Herrick, No. 69818-4-1, (Wash. Apr. 3, 2017). 
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determined that paraphllia not otherwise specified (nonconsent) met the criteria for a 

mental abnormality as defined in chapter 71.09 RCW. His opinion was based on the 

predicate offenses, the 2009 PPG testing, which demonstrated a preference for 

coercive sexuality, and actuarial testing, which predicted a high risk of recidivism. 

In January 2011, Herrick stipulated to the existence of probable cause and 

agreed to undergo an evaluation by the State's expert.4 He was ordered to be held at 

the Special Commitment Center for custodial detention and evaluation. 
' 

Dr. Judd completed an updated cllnlcal evaluation, Including an Interview of 

Herrick and a records review, In April 20121 Dr. Judd provided an addendum again 

opining that Herrick meets the definition of an SVP, relying In part on the results of the 

2009 PPG, which he characterized as detecting a clear arousal to humiliation rape of an . ' . 
adult female and rape of a female minor, despite apparent attempts to suppress 

arousal. 

In May 2012, defense expert Stephen Jensen, M.A., criticized Dr. Judd's report 

as it related to the 2009 PPG. Mr. Jensen concurred with the Northwest Treatment 

Associates evaluator, who found the PPG Inconclusive. 

In December 2012, the State moved for an order requiring Herrick to submit to a 

PPG and specific-issue polygraph as part of the evaluation In anticipation of trial. Dr. 

Judd requested the PPG and a follow-up Interview to prov!de the most current 
' 

Information possible, 

4 On February 15, 2013, the State filed an amended petition, alleging an 
additional recent overt ac~; that In December 2009, while under conditions of community 
placement, Herrick engaged In stalking behaviors towards a female employee of Work 
Source. 
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On January 22, 2013, the trlal court granted the State's motion to compel PPG 

and spec.ific-lssue polygraph testing. That same day, Herrick moved to certify the Issue 

for review under RAP 2.3(b)(4) and requested a stay pending appellate review. The 

court denied Herrick's request for certification and entered an order denying a stay. 

On January 28, 2013, Herrick filed a notice of discretionary review of the trial 

court's order compelling physlologlcal testing.6 

On February 1, 2013, Herrick's counsel informed the State that he refused to 

comply with the PPG order. The State moved to hold Herrick In contempt. On February 

11, 2013, the trial court granted the State's motion and entered a·contempt order. The 

court denied the State's request to Jail Herrick as a coercive sanctlon.6 The court ruled, 

"As a remedial sanction, the fact of refusal is admissible at trial; other remedies are 

reserved for a future hearing."7 

On March 4, 2013 1 Herrick filed an emergency motion in this court for stay of trial 

pending a decision on his motion for discretionary review of the order compelling him to 

comply with PPG testing, and a decision on his appeal of the order holding him in 

contempt for refusing to complete the ordered PPG. That same day, a court 
' ' 

commissioner granted a temporary stay of all trial court proceedings to allow time for 

the State to file a response. On April 3, 2013, the court commissioner heard oral 

6 In re Det. of Herrick, No. 69818-4-1. 
6 When the State crossed out the language in the contempt order providing for a 

coercive jail remedy, it inadvertently crossed off the order's purge clause. CP at 298. 
That error was corrected when this court permitted the trial court to enter an amended 
order holding Herrick In contempt. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 1067-69; Report of 
Proceedings (Aug. 25, 2014) at 3. 

7 CP at 1069. As discussed below, the trial court suggested an adverse 
Inference Instruction may be an appropriate remedy, but the amended contempt order 
expressly reserves other remedies for a future hearing. 
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RCW 71.09.050(1) Is Constitutional On Its Feoe 

Herrick argues that RCW 71.09.050(1) Is unconstitutional on Its face because It 

violates the precommltment detainee's substantive due process right to privacy. We 

disagree. 
I 

The Washington Constitution places greater emphasis on privacy than the 

federal constitution, but the State can reasonably regulate privacy rights to protect the 

public.8 Sex offenders have reduced privacy Interests because they threaten public 

safety.9 In comparison, the public has "[g]rave public safety Interests" that outweigh the 

11truncated" privacy interests of sex offenders.10 The State's compelling interest In "both 

treating sex predators and protecting society from their actions," therefore, Is 

111rrefutable."11 Herrick recognizes that 11pre-commitment detainees retain a limited right 

to privacy and due proces~. 1112 

Herrick claims that 11RCW 71.09.050(1) Is unconstitutional on its face because It 

provides for compulsory testing simply upon request" by the State and "the statute does 

not require a heightened level of scrutlny."13 Herrick misreads the statute. 

RCW 71.09.050(1) provides: 

Within forty-five days after the completion of any hearing held pursuant to 
RCW 71.09.040, the court shall conduct a trial to determine whether the 

8 In re Det. of Williams, 163 Wn. App. 89, 97,264 P.3d 570 (2011) (SVP 
evaluation under former RCW 71.09.040 (2009) did not violate appellant's privacy rights 
under Washington Constitution, art. I, § 7). 

9 kh 
10 In re Det. of Campbell, 139 Wn.2d 341, 356., 986 P .2d 771 (1999). 
11 ln re Det. of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 26, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). 

12 Appellant's Br. at 1 o. 
13 19.:. at 12, 14; Reply Br. at 1. 
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Impose remedial sanctlons.1° This court reviews a trial court's order holding a party In 

contempt for an abuse of discretlon.11 

Herrick challenges the court's contempt order, He argues that "[b]ecause the 

trial court order [oompeffing PPG testing] Is stayed pending review, the lawfulness of 

that order remains an open questlon.1112 But Herrick did not obtain a stay of the order 

' 
compelling PPG testing. Although Herrick recites the order compelling PPG testing "ls 

stayed pending review."13 neither this court nor the trial court entered an order staying 

the compelled testing. And Herrick did not challenge the procedure utilized In 

conducting the contempt hearing. Therefore, as acknowledged by Herrick's counsel at 

oral argument, because we conclude the statute granting the trial court discretion to 

compel PPG testing ls constitutional, there is no basis to overturn the contempt order. 

Citing Diaz v. Washington State Migrant Counci114 and Seattle Northwest 

Securities Corporation v. SDG Holding Co. Inc., 15 Herrick claims that because the 

lawfulness of the PPG order remains an open question, he "does not run afoul of the 

collateral bar rule In this direct appeal from the contempt order."1 6 Generally, under the 

collateral bar rule, "'a court order cannot be collaterally attacked In contempt 

10 RCW 7.21.030(2). 

11 In re Det. of Broer v. State, 93 Wn. App. 852, 863, 957 P.2d 281 (1998). 

12 Appellant's Br. at 26 (emphasis added). 
13 See Appellant's Br., No. 69818-4-1 at 5 ("[T]he order compelling the PPG was 

stayed."). 

14 165 Wn. App. 59, 265 P.3d 956 (2011). 

16 61 Wn. App, 725, 812 P.2d 488 (1991). 

1a Appellant's Br. at 26. 
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proceedings arising from Its violation, since a contempt judgment will normally stand 

even If the order violated was erroneous or was later ruled lnvalid, 1111 7 

In Diaz, a former employee moved for an order of contempt based on a failure of 

his former employer, a nonprofit organization, to provide certain information during 

discovery in the former employee's action challenging his discharge from employment 

as executive director. The Diaz court held that because the former employer did not 

have control over any responsive personal records belonging to Its directors, it could not 

be found in contempt for failing io produce the directors' personal citizenship and 

immigration documents as requested by the former employee absent a showing by the, 

former employee that the former employer had the legal or practical ablllty to secure 

such responsive personal records.1 8 

In Seattle Northwest Securities, SDG Holdings challenged the trial court's order 

of contempt and entry of default judgment as sa.nctions for failure to comply with orders 

for discovery of documents ana testimony which SDG Holdings claimed were privileged. 

The Seattle Northwest Securities court determined that the order finding SDG Holdings 

in contempt ""(as not !lmlted to jurisdictional issues, but rather encompassed the validity 

of the order itself; SDG Holdings refused to supply the documents based on attorney

client privilege and if attorney-client privilege was properly Invoked, refusal to disclose 
I 

Information would not be ·contempt and refusal to answer questions based on good-faith . 

Interpretation of attorney-client privilege· would not be contempt.19 The court therefore 

11 In re Matter of J.R.H., 83 Wn. App. 613, 616, 922 P.2d 206 (1996 (quoting 
State v. Coe, 101 Wn. App. 364, 369-70, 679 P.2d 353 (1984)). 

1e Diaz, 165 Wn. App. at 77-78. 

19 Seattle Nw. Sec. Corp., Inc., 61 Wn. App. at 733-34 .. 
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reversed the trial court's contempt order and entry of default judgment and remanded to 

the trial court for a determination of whether SDG Holdings acted In bad.faith so as to 

preclude application of prlvllege.20 

Neither Diaz nor Seattle Northwest Securities supports Herrick's theory that he 

can elude contempt without obtaining a stay of the order compelling conduct before 

being found in contempt of court for refusing to comply with the order.21 

Accordingly, we conclude the trial court did not abuse its discretion In finding 

Herrick In contempt of the order compelling PPG testing. 

ADVERSE INFERENCE INSTRUCTION 

Herrick argues that in entering the original contempt order, the trial court "pre

approved" an adverse Inference Instruction based on his refusal to comply with the PPG 

testing. But Herrick acknowledges that the State has since amended the contempt 

order and that the "amended order suggests the [S]tate may be retreating from Its initial 

Infatuation with an adverse Inference instructlon."22 The amended order states, "As a 

remedial sanction, the fact of refusal is admissible at trial; other remedies are reserved 

for a future hearlng."23 Because the amended order Is silent about an adverse Inference 

20 Id. at 743-44. - . 
21 We acknowledge the challenge faced by an Individual who is compelled to 

engage In an Invasive procedure and who faces contempt for refusing to comply. An 
appeal as a matter of right after the Invasive procedure could be a hollow remedy. 
Upon unsuccessfully seeking a stay from the trial court, such an individual can seek 
direct, Immediate relief from this court while pursuing efforts to obtaln discretionary 
review. RAP 8.3 authorizes this court 11to issue orders, before ... acceptance of review 
, .. to insure effective and equitable review, Including authority to grant Injunctive or 
other relief to a party." The Individual does not have to wait until he or she is held In 
contempt to seek an Injunction. 

22 Appellant's Br. at 31. 
23 CP at 1069. 
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Instruction, that Issue Is not properly before this court. Therefore, we decline to address 

Herrick's argument. 

Affirmed. 

WE CONCUR: 

9