I. INTRODUCTION 

Donald Herrick seeks review of an April 3, 2017 decision by the 

Court of Appeals, In re the Detention of Donald Herrick, No. 69993-8-I. 

The decision affirmed the trial court's order holding him in contempt of 

court for refusal to comply with an order compelling penile plethysmograph 

(PPG) and specific-issue polygraph testing as part of a sexually violent 

predator (SVP) pre-civil commitment trial evaluation. 

The order compelling the PPG and specific-issue polygraph are the 

subject of a second Petition for Review currently before this Court: Sup. Ct. 

No. 94495-4. Mr. Herrick offers no reasons why further review of this 

contempt order should be granted other than "if this Court accepts review 

of the constitutionality of [the order compelling PPG and polygraph 

testing], this Court should also grant review of this case. Pet. at 2. This 

request does not meet any of the RAP 13.4 prerequisites for review. 

Therefore, it should be denied. 

IL COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

There is no basis for this Court's review of the Court of Appeals' 

decision pursuant to RAP 13.4. If this Court were to accept review, the 

following issue would be presented: 

Whether the trial court had tenable reasons for holding 
Herrick in contempt, where Herrick intentionally 
disobeyed an order of the court. 
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III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State filed the SVP petition in Island County on 

November 29, 2010. CP at 1061-62. The Petition is supported by 

evaluations of Herrick conducted by Brian Judd, Ph.D. CP at 675-82. 

Dr. Judd relied in part on a PPG of Herrick conducted on March 5, 2009, 

during Herrick's community sexual deviancy treatment. Id. The testing 

suffered from what the testing agency described as clear "signs of 

manipulation and suppression of responses .. across all categories" by 

Herrick. Id. 

Concerned about the possible invalidating effect of Herrick's efforts 

to manipulate and suppress his PPG testing, the State moved pretrial to 

compel updated PPG testing. CP at 654-711. Also supporting the State's 

request was Herrick's attack on the 2009 PPG results. He obtained a report 

from a qualified expert who opined that the PPG testing was inconclusive 

and that Dr. Judd improperly relied upon it. CP at 688-94. Herrick filed a 

response opposing updated PPG testing to which the State replied. 

CP at 361-565, 566-600. 

The trial court heard oral argument on the Petitioner's Motion to 

Compel Physiological Testing on January 22, 2013. 1RP at 13-24.1  The 

testing was permitted by RCW 71.09.050(1) "if requested by the evaluator." 

The evaluator, Dr. Judd, had requested the testing. CP at 684-86. The court 

ordered that Herrick comply with PPG testing and a specific-issue 

1  Consistent with Herrick's convention for identifying the VRPs: 1RP is the 
January 22, 2013 motions hearing; 2RP is the February 11, 2013 contempt hearing; 3RP is 
the February 21, 2013 remedies hearing; and 4RP is the August 25, 2014 motion hearing. 
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polygraph test, entering the Order Compelling Physiological Testing 

(PPG Order). 1RP at 28-31; CP at 353-55. The polygraph testing was 

necessary to address whether Herrick had again manipulated or suppressed 

his responses to PPG testing, a concern made greater from an 

August 20, 2010, recorded King County Jail phone call in which Herrick 

asked his girlfriend to research ways to "beat," "cheat" or "win" the PPG. 

CP at 701-04. 

Herrick's counsel later notified the State that Herrick refused to 

comply with the PPG Order. CP at 334. The State moved for a finding of 

contempt. CP at 322-34. Herrick responded. CP at 306-19. The trial court 

held a contempt hearing on February 11, 2013. 2RP. The court found 

Herrick in contempt and entered the Order on Petitioner's Motion to Hold 

Respondent in Contempt (Contempt Order). CP at 296-98. The court denied 

the State's request to jail Herrick as a coercive sanction. 2RP at 28. The trial 

court provided as a coercive sanction that the fact of Herrick's contempt 

would be admissible at trial, with other possible remedies to be considered 

at a future date. CP at 298, 1069. 

The trial court held a hearing on other possible contempt remedies 

on February 21, 2013. Though on January 11th  Herrick opposed the PPG 

testing, one month later his counsel conceded that it was necessary, 

admitting that to say it was "needed" was probably an "understatement:" 

To say that Mr. Ross needs this PPG exam is 
probably an understatement that we've known since the 
filing of this case back in 2011. Because we knew right up 
front in the initial discovery that the 2009 PPG exam was an 
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inconclusive exam that we believed was ultimately going to 
be invalid and not be relied upon. 

I don't know why it's taken so long for the AG to 
come to this conclusion, but we knew this pretty much 
upfront.... 

3RP at 13. 

Herrick appealed the contempt order, and it was upheld by Division 

One in an unpublished Opinion dated April 3, 2017. 

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Acceptance of review of a decision of the Court of Appeals is 

governed by RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Herrick does not allege that the decision 

below conflicts any other precedent or that his Petition involves a significant 

question of law and/or an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by this Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1) through (4)). Because his Petition 

does not meet any of the specified criteria for review, review should be 

denied. 

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. None of the RAP 13.4 criteria are met or even alleged 

There is no basis for this Court's review of the Court of Appeals' 

decision pursuant to RAP 13.4. Even Mr. Herrick offers no reasons why 

further review of this contempt order should be granted. Instead, he simply 

states that "if this Court accepts review of the constitutionality of [the order 

compelling PPG and polygraph testing], this Court should also grant review 

of this case. Pet. at 2. This request does not meet any of the RAP 13.4 

prerequisites for review. Therefore, it should be denied. 
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B. The trial court is better situated to address issues related to 
Mr. Herrick's contempt 

The order compelling physiological testing was upheld by the Court 

of Appeals based on well-established Washington precedent, and further 

review of that order is unwarranted. Nonetheless, even if review of that 

order were granted by this Court, there still would be no reason for further 

review of the contempt order that underlies this Petition. Should the order 

for testing later be modified for any reason, the trial court will necessarily 

have to address Mr. Herrick's contempt status. On the other hand, if review 

of the testing order is denied, Mr. Herrick offers no reason why the contempt 

order should be reviewed. Mr. Herrick's Petition is superfluous given the 

ability of the trial court to continue to monitor and address the contempt 

order as needed. 

VI.. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Herrick failed to specify any RAP 13.4 reasons justifying 

review in his Petition. The decision below does not create a constitutional 

question or conflict with any Washington precedent. Accordingly, 

discretionary review is not justified in this case. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 6  day of July, 2017. 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 

Mg wu 6V i cl (alk,  
JOSHUA CHOATE, SBA 430867 
Attorneys for State of Washington 

z4b(~b